THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2011-CP-23-1209
Appellate Case No.: 2013-002652

Marlon Rivera, 311864, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

J. Falkner Wilkes, (SC Bar #12893)
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
(864) 271-6035 facsimile

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the judge erred by admitting appellant's inculpatory statement to the police where it was undisputed that appellant could not read or write Spanish or English, a police investigator acknowledged he physically pulled appellant up by the belt on his shackles during the interrogation while it was also undisputed the police called appellant a liar, and where appellant offered expert testimony of his fear and inability to understand the actions of the police given the cultural differences, language barrier, and the police behavior, since appellant's confession should have been suppressed given these circumstances?

2.

Whether the judge erred by admitting the hearsay testimony of Investigator Wesley Smith that Officer Rivera told him while appellant was being escorted to the detention center after giving his confession that Rivera told Smith appellant had told him the officers had been "too nice about it," and that in his country "they'd put a bag over the head and beat us," since this was hearsay testimony and prejudicial?

3.

Whether the judge abused his discretion by ruling interpreter and defense investigator Carlos Freeman could not testify because he remained in the courtroom with appellant throughout the trial, reasoning this violated the sequestration order, since this ruling was fundamentally unfair given that Freeman was relied upon as an interpreter by the defense during the trial, and that his presence was necessary in the courtroom?

4.

Whether the judge erred by ruling appellant was not entitled to an instruction on involuntary manslaughter where the state elicited testimony that appellant told witness Nelson Castro that he had been wrestling with someone "and that the weapon just went off by itself," where there was also evidence appellant was resisting an attack, since defense counsel correctly argued appellant was armed in self-defense under *State v. Burris* and *State v. Crosby*, and that appellant was entitled an involuntary manslaughter instruction given this evidence?

5.

Whether the judge erred by ruling appellant was not entitled to an instruction on accident where the state elicited testimony that appellant told witness Nelson Castro that he had been wrestling with someone "and that the weapon just went off by itself," where there was also evidence appellant was resisting an attack since defense counsel correctly argued appellant was armed in self-defense under *State v. Burris* and that appellant was entitled an accident instruction given this evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Greenville County grand jury for the offense of murder. R. 464. His case came on for trial on October 10, 2005 before the Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr. and a jury. Susannah Ross represented appellant. Kris Hodge was the Assistant Solicitor. R. 1.

On October 13, 2005 the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 459, ll. 6 – 11. Judge Pyle sentenced appellant to thirty years imprisonment. R. 463, ll. 20 -22.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to trial defense counsel moved for the appointment of a separate court interpreter. Defense counsel Ross noted that her interpreter, Carlos Freeman, had helped her throughout the case. "He's interpreting to my client what's happening, but he's not the state's interpreter for this case." R. 12, ll. 17 – 24. The judge denied the motion. R. 12, l. 25 – 13, l. 2.

The judge then asked Ross how she would be prejudiced by not addressing the confession issue during her opening argument. Ross answered that if the confession was going to come into evidence: "I would like to explain it, and talk about what happened, and the background of it, and the basis of it." Ross said it was important that the jury know the defense was going to "be up-front and bring this out if it's going to come in." The judge disagreed, and ruled Ross would not be prejudiced by not being able to address the confession issue in her opening statement. R. 12, l. 25 – 13, l. 14.

Defense counsel later moved for a mistrial arguing the solicitor exploited the defense's inability to comment on the confession in opening by implying the defense "hid the confession from them," during the state's closing argument. Counsel argued this was purposely unfair since the suppression hearing was not held until the second day of trial. R. 435, ll. 7-13.

Trial Testimony

Greenville County Sheriff's Deputy David Bendig testified that he was dispatched to an assault call on July 17, 2004 at about 12:30 a.m. R. 22, l. 23 – 23, l. 25. Bendig found a

male lying on the ground in the parking lot near the "Spanish Amigo Market in the strip mall." There were about twenty or thirty people scattered outside.¹ R. 24, ll. 2 – 15.

Bendig immediately acknowledged that "a language barrier existed." He remembered talking to Courtney Robles and Delman Arais at the scene. R. 27, ll. 1 – 14. These were the only people Bendig spoke with that morning. R. 27, ll. 8 – 23. As will be seen infra, there would be evidence that Arais attacked appellant and that appellant pulled a gun when attacked. R. 299 - 300.

Castro Testimony

Nelson Castro was the next state's witness. Interpreter Efrain Pineros was sworn in for Castro's testimony. R. 33, ll. 2- 6. Castro said that he spoke Spanish and "a little bit of English." R. 33, ll. 8 – 20.

Castro noted that appellant was his cousin. He recalled appellant coming by his house at 1:30 or 2:00 in the morning on the day in question. R. 34, l. 16 – 36, l. 12.

Castro then attempted to testify regarding what his wife told him that appellant allegedly told her. Defense counsel Ross's hearsay objection was overruled. R. 36, ll. 11 – 16.

Castro remembered that appellant had a pistol and that he said that he had killed somebody. R. 37, l. 4 – 38, l. 10. The solicitor elicited the following from Castro:

Q. And that he had gotten he pistol the day before?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he say how it was that he came to kill someone?

¹ There would later be evidence offered that the police at first did not know the victim had been shot in the face, and they only thought he was badly hurt from being beaten.

A. He said that *they were wrestling with somebody else, and that the weapon was loaded, and that the weapon just went off by itself.* That the shot didn't hit the person that he was wrestling with, but it hit somebody else that was watching.

Q. Did he say the he knew the person that got shot?

A. No, he didn't say that he knew that person.

Q. How was he acting that night?

A. He looked like sad for what had happened.

R. 38, ll. 11 – 22. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination Castro acknowledged appellant told him the gun “went off accidentally when the other man grabbed the pistol and they were fighting over it.” R. 43, ll. 23 -25.

Carlos Estradeo was from Columbia. He was the owner of a small club near the club where the shooting occurred. Supp. R. 1, ll. 12 – 3, l. 19. Estradeo testified that people were “patted down” for weapons before they came into his club. Estradeo remembered that when appellant was patted down, seemingly after the shooting that Estradeo felt what he thought was a weapon. Appellant then left the club and returned ten or fifteen minutes later “and he didn't have anything.” Supp. R. 4, l. 9 – 5, l. 16.

Investigator Brian Garrett testified there were about fifteen to twenty people outside the Hispanic club where the shooting occurred when he arrived at 3:00 a.m. Garrett said he tried to interview witnesses but none of them had any information that was useful. Supp. R. 12, ll. 15 – 23.

However, Garrett said that one alleged eyewitness, Elvaro Fernandez, returned about fifteen minutes later and was “kinda excited.” Over defense hearsay objection, Garrett

testified that Fernandez told him he had seen the person who shot the victim and that he was in a nearby bar, the Mexiclia, down the street. Supp. R. 13, l. 12 – 16, l. 16.

Fernandez allegedly described the shooter as wearing a red shirt and blue jeans. Garrett went into the club and he told appellant “to put his hands behind his back in Spanish, and I placed him under arrest.” Supp. R. 16, l. 21 – 18, l. 12.

There was evidence that Garrett located the weapon the following morning in a tree outside the club. Supp. R. 48, l. 19 – 51, l. 14.

The pathologist, Dr. Eric Christensen testified that the decedent died on July 21, 2004, several days after he was shot. He died from a gunshot wound to the face. The decedent was taken off life support. Supp. R. 65, ll. 21 – 24; Supp. R. 67, ll. 6 – 21.

There were at least three theories of what occurred into this case. Each theory was backed by some evidence. As seen, Castro testified, on direct examination by the solicitor, that appellant told him the gun went off accidentally during the struggle. As will be seen infra, there was also evidence appellant was attacked by a Hispanic man because he was socializing with black people.

The state called Greenville County Crime Lab worker Mark Stephan to apparently attempt to dispel the gun went off by accident evidence. Supp. R. 71, l. 12 – 72, l. 16. Stephan testified that when he test fired the gun “it misfired several times. It did not fire when I pulled the trigger.” Supp. R. 78, ll. 15 – 24.

However, Stephan maintained that someone would have to pull the trigger for this particular gun to discharge. Stephan claimed the gun would not go off accidentally. Supp. R. 19, ll. 3 – 19.

As will also be seen infra, there was also evidence that appellant shot the gun into the concrete or ground to scare his attacker. Stephan discounted that theory saying the condition of the bullet taken from the decedent was consistent with the bullet being fired from the gun and then going directly into the bone, and not hitting something else first. Supp. R. 88, ll. 1 – 23.

There was another theory that the decedent was the unintended victim, but that the gun was intentionally. There was also evidence two or three men actually handled the gun in the confusion outside the club, and a third man may have fired the shot that hit the decedent. R. 98, ll. 2-11.

Suppression Hearing

A suppression hearing was held in the middle of the trial. Investigator Brian Garrett was the first witness called by the state. R. 69, ll. 1 – 25.

Prior to Garrett's testimony defense counsel Ross renewed her objection about holding the Jackson v. Denno hearing today "rather than yesterday." Counsel again noted that defense was adversely affected by having to do its opening statement without a ruling on the confession. R. 68, ll. 11 – 24.

Garrett testified he did a waiver of rights and took a statement from appellant with Investigator Wes Smith and Deputy Rivera present. R. 69, ll. 14 – 17. Garrett testified the waiver of rights was done at 6:30 in the morning on July 18, 2004. R. 71, ll. 19 – 21.

Garrett readily admitted appellant could not speak English. R. 71, ll. 6 – 7. Garrett said the waiver of rights was in Spanish since appellant could not speak English. R. 80, ll. 2 – 8. There was also evidence in this case that appellant could not only not read English, he could not read Spanish. See Waiver form; R. 467.

Garrett said after appellant gave his statement it was "typed in English." R. 75, ll. 16 – 22; See Appellant's statement; R. 466. Garrett claimed the statement was read back to appellant in Spanish and he did not have any changes. R. 75, l. 21 - 76, l. 3. As will be seen very shortly, this would be highly contested.

Garrett admitted in his report that he wrote when he arrived the other investigators were already interviewing appellant. R. 78, l. 13 – 79, l. 3. Garrett admitted, "I will Mirandize them as I am speaking to them." R. 79, ll. 2 – 24. "We'll discuss exactly what happened and then will Mirandize them in written form and get their signature and then do the actual interview and transfer it on to paper." R. 80, ll. 8 – 13. As will be seen infra, this would be defense counsel's secondary objection to appellant's confession being admitted.

Traffic Officer Raymond Rivera was used as an interpreter by the police department. R. 82, ll. 2 – 14. Rivera noted that there were different dialects of the Spanish language, and that that someone from Columbia would be different from someone from Puerto Rico or Spain. R. 82, l. 23 – 84, l. 21. The importance of this was that the defense would strongly maintain the police threatened appellant and took advantage him through coercive police conduct to obtain a confession.

Rivera remembered he was called into appellant's interview to translate for the other investigators. R. 84, ll. 14 – 23. Rivera also admitted he learned appellant could not read or write. R. 86, l. 21 – 88, l. 10.

Rivera recalled appellant had handcuffs "on a belt in the front." R. 95, ll. 17 – 23. Rivera said he did not write out appellant's statement in Spanish. "I translated it to English, and then I had them write in English." R. 97, ll. 2 – 3.

Immediately before translating or interviewing appellant Rivera interviewed alleged eyewitness Hernandez. Rivera admitted he was told that "one person had the gun and other person took it away from him and shot and then gave the gun back to one person." R. 98, ll. 2 – 11.

The next witness was Investigator Wesley Smith. Smith was the lead investigator on the case. He said he spoke "very very little Spanish." Smith distinctly remembered that "everything I ask him [appellant], his answer was, 'no problem.'" "No matter what I ask him." R. 100, l. 8 – 101, l. 9. Smith also said his ability to comprehend conversations in Spanish "is nil." R. 102, ll. 13 – 15.

On cross-examination, Garrett said he did not contact the foreign consulate for appellant upon his arrest because "I'm not required to do that." R. 109, l. 22 – 110, l. 4. Smith also admitted that the officers "confronted him [appellant]" and told him that he was lying to them." R. 112, ll. 5 – 6. Investigator Smith also acknowledged that he "picked him [appellant] up by the belt and pulled his belt back up, it is very loose" Smith claimed he did this so appellant could move his arms around: "I picked him up by the belt, I stood him up, moved it back up, and just told him to sit back down in a chair." R. 111, ll. 10 – 25.

Appellant then testified that he did not speak English and that he only went to first and second grade while living in Honduras. R. 114, l. 12 – 115, l. 8. Appellant said he only understood "a little bit" of Rivera's Spanish. Appellant testified that he "didn't understand anything about the statement before he was told to sign the paperwork." R. 115, ll. 9 – 22.

The following occurred with appellant:

Q. Now when you made these signatures what did you understand that you were doing?

A. When I signed there I was nervous and I didn't know what was going on, what he was telling me, nothing what he was telling me *because he had me in a hold like this. And one of them said that I was lying. He grabbed me from the front and hold me up like this. And then they read the papers and I just didn't know what was going on.*

Q. All right.

A. I didn't understood anything. I didn't understand anything and they told me to sign. And they told to sign. And I told them that I didn't - - I didn't know how to sign. So they - - Mr. Rivera came. He said that he got my name there. And based on that, since my name was there that I would go ahead and sign down there.

I was handcuffed. And I said, I can't sign. And he said, just write down a name, write you. And this next page, he read that to me. I didn't understand anything. I was just kind of lost. I didn't know what was going on because when they got me - - when they got hold of me I was nervous.

And Mr. Rivera told me to sign. And he said - - and I asked him where. And I was very nervous. And I signed up there on the top. I signed on the other side too. And I signed down there. And he said, no, it's not there. It's not there. It's not down there. And then he said, what you need to do is sign down here.

And I said, well, I don't know how to sign. He came, he got his pen, and he put two of the first letters. I remember more or less a year ago. And the first letter he wrote - - there's a name. And there's the next letter that I don't know what it is. And then the next one. And he told me, do this, do that, but I didn't know how to copy my name. And I put - - I wrote down and "R" and other letters that I don't know what they are, what are their names.

R. 116, l. 4 - 117, l. 13. (emphasis added).

Appellant also said while Rivera was asking him questions another officer grabbed him and "raised me up and got me like that. And he told me that I was lying . . . he grabbed me from the belt up. He told me that I was lying. I asked Officer Rivera, what is he saying and he said that the officer was saying that I was lying." Appellant said he told Rivera he was not lying and that he was telling the truth. "If you don't believe me there's God in heaven that is a witness." Appellant said Rivera answered, "there is no God here." R. 118, l. 17 - 119, l. 8.

Appellant said he signed the document as instructed after he was "grabbed up" and called a liar. Appellant testified he was nervous because he did not know what the authorities were going to do with him after he was physically handled. R. 119, l. 19 - 120, l. 3.

Appellant stated after he was in jail he asked to speak to his attorney and the interpreter "because I didn't know what was written in the paper. I didn't know what the paper said." Appellant testified that when he was told what the police had written down he told them that was not what he had told them. "[T]here are things in that paper that Officer Rivera put them there. And that information I didn't give to him." R. 120, l. 18 - 23.

On cross-examination appellant said he was from Honduras and that he was able to get into the country and work with some people from Costa Rica. R. 121, l. 23 - 124, l. 6.

The defense then presented the expert testimony of Dr. Robert Taylor. Taylor spoke four languages and read in seven. R. 127, l. 21 - 129, l. 22. Dr. Taylor received his doctorate in theology from Gregorian University in Rome. He also had a master's degree in psychology and a master's in social work. R. 129, ll. 8 - 22.

Dr. Taylor was recognized as an expert in social work, and psychology with an emphasis on bi-cultural and bilingual interaction. R. 131, ll. 3 – 5.

Dr. Taylor explained that appellant was illiterate and could not read English or Spanish. He had never been to school. Both the signatures on the waiver were orchestrated for him, Dr. Taylor testified. Appellant knew how to sign the first letter of his name, but on the rest of it he had to be coached. Dr. Taylor explained, “it’s as if I were arrested in China and given the characters of Chinese to sign my name in Chinese, a brush and an ink dispenser and was asked to sign it. That would be quite a task. He was given that to concentrate on. I don’t believe he knows what a lawyer is.” R. 132, ll. 6 – 10.

Dr. Taylor opined that appellant signed the waiver form and statement under duress. “He doesn’t understand written Spanish.” The waiver form was in Spanish. R. 132, l. 11 – 133, l. 6; See Waiver of rights. R. 467. Dr. Taylor also said appellant tried to comply with the officer’s demands, and he noted that appellant was grabbed by the belt, raised up and called a liar. R. 133, l. 7 – 134, l. 5.

Dr. Taylor stated that appellant would not have known what a lawyer was the process the police employed in this case, and “we know from the interview he has no questions.” R. 135, l. 13 – 136, l. 21.

The judge then ruled that the state had proved by preponderance of the evidence that appellant’s statement was voluntarily tendered. He found there were no “coercive police tactics” employed. R. 139, l. 22 – 140, l. 17.

Defense counsel also added voluntariness was questionable where Garrett admitted he came in during an interview process, and then the waiver was signed. R. 140, l. 19 – 141, l. 3.

Garrett, Rivera and Smith then testified in the presence of the jury. R. 144, l. 1 – 154, l. 25.

Rivera's Testimony

Rivera testified, over objection that when appellant was being escorted to the jail he said "this is taking to long. In my country they would have put a bag on my head and beat me down or beat me up is what he said." R. 181, ll. 1 – 25.

Smith's Testimony

Investigator Wesley Smith testified, and repeated, that appellant kept saying "no problem no problem" to him that evening no matter what he was asked. R. 210, l. 20 – 211, l. 10.

Smith also testified if a bullet had hit the ground or concrete before hitting the decedent that the police would have been able to notice the damage. R. 207, ll. 1 – 23; R. 257, ll. 7- 12. Smith acknowledged he was told by another witness, Alvaro Fernando Portugez, that he saw two men arguing that night and he saw another man walking around and that third men bent down as if he was grabbing something from his leg. A witness told Smith he did not see who did the shooting. R. 143, ll. 12 – 25; R. 144, ll. 12 – 17.

Appellant allegedly told the police that he was at a restaurant that night with some black friends. He told them he was carrying a gun that he had gotten from a friend, Antonio Mendoza, who had been arrested the day before. It was a .22 caliber gun. R. 179, ll. 10 – 21. In appellant's statement he said a man approached him and asked "why was he hanging around those black guys or those black people." The statement said the man grabbed appellant and started pushing appellant around. There was a struggle and the man let go of appellant. The statement said appellant was mad because the man hit him and he went to

grab his gun and it fell on the ground. Appellant's statement read: "I grabbed it [the gun]. I pointed it at him and shot two times." R. 180, ll. 1 – 7. Appellant's statement also said appellant put the gun in a tree after he went to the Mexicali. R. 180, ll. 8 – 23; Appellant's statement; R. 466.

Hearsay Objection

Over defense counsel's hearsay objection Smith was allowed to testify that while he and Rivera were escorting appellant to the detention center after his statement that Officer Rivera laughed and said appellant told him the police had been "too nice." "And then I [Smith] asked Rivera what he meant. He said, well, he [appellant] said [in] my country they put a bag over the head and beat us." R. 235, ll. 5 – 22.

The interpreter and sequestration

During the waiver of appellant's right to testify, or his decision to testify, Freeman interpreted appellant's words to the judge and vice versa. Freeman told the judge appellant told him "I wish to defend myself. The shoots the police said I did, I did not do. So I wish to defend myself." R. 259, l. 20 – 261, l. 25.

The solicitor then stated that she knew the defense was going to call interpreter Freeman as a witness. The solicitor said: "He [Freeman] obviously has been in here the entire time translating and he's been outside talking to the potential witnesses as well. So I would say that would exclude his testimony in this case." Defense counsel Ross countered that Smith was the defense translator and his presence was needed, and as investigator he was only substantiating things that were said. Ross argued Freeman was her interpreter and investigator and that there was on reason he should not have been in the courtroom particularly since Investigator Smith also sat in court the entire time. The judge ruled since

there was a motion to sequester he *had* "to grant [the solicitor] motion" to exclude Freeman's testimony. R. 262, l. 8 – 263, l. 13. (emphasis added).

The proffer

Ross then proffered Freeman's testimony. Freeman testified in camera that during his investigation he tried to find people who witnessed the incident and he provided their names to Investigator Smith. R. 264, ll. 10 – 23. Freeman testified that Smith told him there was no other person involved and that he was not interested in investigating any further. R. 265, l. 7 – 266, l. 9. The Freeman testimony would have countered Investigator Smith's, and other police testimony, that the police attempted to find and interview other witnesses, but they could not be located, were not cooperative, or had no information. See, e.g. R. 237, l. 21 – 254, l. 17.

Freeman also testified that when he later interpreted appellant's confession to him in the jail that appellant became very upset. Freeman testified he had to continue to calm appellant down because he "greatly surprised," and appellant said that he did not tell the police the things that were written down. R. 267, ll. 11 – 20.

Other testimony

Courtney Robles testified that she saw two men fighting that night. Robles was not sure how the physical action started. Robles thought the decedent may have been "one of the guys that had been fighting and somebody had just punched him in the eye because by the time they [the police] got there his eye was so swollen that you couldn't see the entry wound." R. 286, l. 23 – 287, l. 6.

Robles gave the police a statement, and she also said the police were "very rude. Very rude" to everyone that "was out there" that night at the Spanish club. R. 287, ll. 10-14.

Robles described how a man in a striped shirt was fighting with a man in a white shirt, and another man separated them, and a man in a black shirt took the gun from the man in the striped shirt and pointed straight ahead and shot. R. 283, l. 7 – 287, l.14.

Norberto Ortiz testified that appellant had problem with Delman Maricio Arias, “and the guy that had some problems with a guy inside the place. And the guy that had the problems with Marlon and started just saying some bad words and insulting him. . . . Mauricio attacked Marlon.” Ortiz also noted that another unknown man got the pistol from appellant after appellant had shot the gun twice to scare the aggressor. The other person said “give me the pistol, I’ll shoot him.” Ortiz said he did not know which of the three shots hit the decedent. R. 297, l. 16 – 307, l. 15.

Lesser-Included Offense and accident

During the charge conference defense counsel Ross brought to the judge’s attention the cases of State v. Burris and State v. Crosby. The cases were made a court’s exhibit. See R.2. Ross argued that there was evidence appellant was armed in self-defense and a jury could find the gun accidentally when off and it was involuntary manslaughter or accident since there was no heat of passion. R. 378, ll. 9 – 22.

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