STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-002652

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 11 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Marlon Rivera, ..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving appellate counsel was ineffective.**

Petitioner argues appellate counsel erred in not petitioning the South Carolina Supreme Court to remand the direct appeal back to the South Carolina Court of Appeals for rulings upon all of Petitioner’s direct appeal issues. This allegation is without merit.

### A.

On direct appeal, appellate counsel raised five issues (that were actually treated as four issues) in his final brief at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (App.pp.673-707). The Court of Appeals addressed the consolidated issue (listed as issues 4 and 5 in Petitioner’s brief) and reversed Petitioner’s conviction and sentence. The Court of Appeals noted that “in light of our disposition of the issue pertaining to the trial judge’s refusal to charge the jury on involuntary manslaughter, the remaining issues on appeal are not dispositive and need not be addressed.” (App.p.665). The State filed a petition for writ of certiorari – and subsequent brief of Petitioner – concerning this issue. (App.pp.753-74; pp.790-807). The South Carolina Supreme Court subsequently reversed

the Court of Appeals, thus reinstating Petitioner's conviction and sentence. (App.pp.666-72).

**B.**

Petitioner did not testify at the PCR hearing. Appellate counsel, however, did testify. Appellate counsel stated that

in retrospect . . . what I should have done is after I lost in the Supreme Court, when they reversed the Court of Appeals, I should have asked the Supreme Court to remand the case back to the Court of Appeals to make findings and address issues one through four that the Court did not address.

(App.p.594). Appellate counsel stated he believed another attorney in his office had done this once before. (App.p.594).

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner "failed to meet his burden of proving appellate counsel was ineffective." The PCR judge noted Petitioner failed to present any "case law or precedent" that would have allowed appellate counsel to file a motion to remand the case to the Court of Appeals after the Supreme Court had issued its opinion. The PCR judge found appellate counsel was not deficient and the unaddressed direct appeal issues were not meritorious and "were unlikely to have been resolved in favor of [Petitioner]." The PCR judge also found Petitioner could not demonstrate any prejudice because the State presented overwhelming evidence of his guilt. (App.pp.A8-A9).

**C.**

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance.

under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A defendant is constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S. Ct. 830 (1985). In analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the Court applies the Strickland test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. See Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009).

**D.**

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving appellate counsel was ineffective. Appellate counsel was not deficient in not filing a motion to remand and Petitioner was not prejudiced from the lack of said motion.

Deficiency

Petitioner's argument is that, after the Supreme Court granted the State's petition for a writ of certiorari and subsequently issued an opinion reversing the Court of Appeals, appellate counsel should have filed a motion to remand the matter to the Court of Appeals so that court could address his remaining issues. Initially, the State would note appellate counsel couched his entire testimony in terms of actions he wished he had taken "in retrospect." (App.p.593; p.594). The United States Supreme Court has specifically warned against looking at a post-conviction relief case through the lens of retrospection.

The Strickland court noted:

A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065. Appellate counsel's deficiency cannot be presumed merely from his testimony three years after he handled this appeal. See, e.g., McAfee v. Thurmer, 589 F.3d 353, 356 (7th Cir. 2009) (noting attorney "reflection after the fact is irrelevant to the question of ineffective assistance of counsel"); Wright v. Hooper, 169 F.3d 695, 707 (11th Cir. 1999) (noting that ineffectiveness is an issue decided by the courts and that "admissions of deficient performance by attorneys are not decisive").

Regardless, appellate counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to make a motion to remand in this case. A petition for a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals is a discretionary appeal, not an appeal to which a petitioner is entitled as a matter of right. Rule 242(b), SCACR. Furthermore, "an individual has no constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel when seeking discretionary appellate review, and counsel is not required to seek a writ of certiorari after a criminal appeal is decided by the Court of Appeals." State v. Lyles, 381 S.C. 442, 444, 673 S.E.2d 811, 812 (2009) (citing Douglas v. State, 369 S.C. 213, 631 S.E.2d 542 (2006)). As such, it cannot be incumbent upon appellate counsel to have filed a motion to remand after the conclusion of a discretionary appeal. In addition, Petitioner has failed to cite case law that mandates such

action upon appellate counsel in this situation. Rather, remand such as that contemplated by Petitioner can be ordered sua sponte by the Supreme Court, if deemed appropriate by that Court. See State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 529 S.E.2d 526 (2000); State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 517 S.E.2d 216 (1999).

#### Prejudice

Moreover, Petitioner cannot demonstrate he was prejudiced by the lack of a motion to remand in his case because the State produced overwhelming evidence of his guilt at trial. Officers responded to reports of a gunshot victim at 1124 Cedar Lane Road. (App.pp.41-43). Petitioner was later apprehended at a bar called the Mexicali at 1302 Cedar Lane Road. (App.p.73; pp.81-83). Alvaro Fernandez – an eyewitness to the shooting – had notified police of Petitioner’s location at the Mexicali and subsequently positively identified Petitioner as the shooter. (App.p.81). Carlos Estrado, co-owner of the Mexicali, told police he was the bouncer that evening and would not let Petitioner enter because he felt a weapon on his person. Estrado said Petitioner left and returned without a weapon. (App.p.68; pp.70-71). Police subsequently found the murder weapon in a tree near the Mexicali. (App.pp.87-89).<sup>1</sup> A gunshot residue test indicated Petitioner had a lead particle on the back of one of his hands. (App.pp.104-11; p.178). Petitioner’s cousin, Nelson Castro, testified Petitioner said he had killed someone when he pulled out his pistol and it went off. (App.pp.52-55; pp.60-61). Petitioner gave a statement to police. (App.pp.269-73; pp.294-97; pp.298-99). In Petitioner’s statement, he said he was

---

<sup>1</sup> A ballistics expert testified the bullet recovered from the victim was fired from this pistol. (App.p.144).

in a fight with someone, became mad, pointed his gun at this person, and shot twice. (App.p.299).<sup>2</sup> Petitioner never told the officers that anyone else was involved and specifically said no one else shot his weapon. (App.p.300; pp.351-52).<sup>3</sup>

The weakness of Petitioner's unaddressed appellate issues – when coupled with the State's presentation of overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt – clearly demonstrate Petitioner cannot prove he was prejudiced by appellate counsel's failure to file a motion to remand after the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals on a writ of certiorari. See, e.g., Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 325, 680 S.E.2d 5, 8 (2009) (holding no prejudice occurs, even if trial counsel was deficient, where there is otherwise overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt); Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1991) (concluding reasonable probability of a different result does not exist when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt).

#### Conclusion

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that appellate counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by appellate counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389,

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner also admitted he put this weapon in a tree outside the Mexicali. (App.p.299; p.467).

<sup>3</sup> At trial, however, Petitioner changed his story. Petitioner testified he: (1) got into a fight with someone (who he did not believe was going to kill him), (2) another person named "El Flaco" took his gun and shot the victim, and (3) Petitioner took the gun back and fired it into the ground twice. (App.pp.458-61; p.489).

570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”). There is ample probative evidence to support the PCR judge’s ruling. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626; see also McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 559, 455 S.E.2d 686, 687–88 (1995) (citation omitted) (holding the rulings of the PCR judge must be affirmed if there is any evidence to support the decision).

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.